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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION SIE e A %07

S .
WASHINGTUN, [ 204G ,

July 17,2003

O e SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSICN

THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

ROBERT J. COSTA ?A’d’”
's

DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

pee

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON :
ASSISTANT STAFE)DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 12 DAY PRE-
GENERAL AND 30 DAY POST-GENERAL REPORTS

Attached are the names of the political committees and their treasurers against - .
which the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil
money penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file or failure to timely file the
2002 12 Day Pre-General and/or 30 Day Post-General Reports. The first group pertains
to the 12 Day Pre-General Report and the second group pertains to the 30 Day Post-
General Report. Each group lists commitiees that have either paid the civil money .
penalty or have failed to pay the civil money penalty. The committees that have not paid
have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to remit

payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.

For your information, Republicans for Choice (AF #956) filed its 30 Day Post-
General Report after the RTB finding. The actual total receipt and total disbursement
figures disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty that is lower than that
found at the RTB stage ($2,700 versus $4,500).



Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a} and assess the civil money penalties s0

indicated.

(2) Send the approprate letters.



2002 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT
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DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Friday, July 18, 2003 _12:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, July 23 2003 4:00
COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For 2002 12 Day Pre-Generai and 30 Day Post-General Reports.
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis
Division dated July 17, 2003.

() | apprave the recommendation(s)
{) | abject to the recommendation(s)
(} } approve the recommendations except those foliowing

tc which | obiect (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() i approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused {please insert AF#)

() i am not voting on this taily.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



SUBSEQUENT TO THE 7/17/03 MEMORANDUM TO THE COMMISSION IN
WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, THE COMMITTEES IN
THE FOLLOWING CASES HAVE PAID CIVIL PENALTIES:

840
849
858
860
863



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

)
)
)
)
}
Recommendation For The 2002 }
)
)
)
)

% Final Determination AF #8490
| 12-Day Pre-General Reports
U.S5. Bancorp Political
Participation Program and
Michele G. Johnson, treasurer.
CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election

Commission, do hereby certify that on July 24, 2003, the

Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following

actione in AF #840:

1. Make a final determination that U.S. Bancorp Political
Participation Program and Michele G. Johnson, treasurer
| violated 2 U.S8.C. §434(a) and assess the civil money
| penalty of $650.00.

| 2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
July 17, 2003.

Commisgsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
|
|
|
|

and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
Dl 257 22 D ines o Ly
Sk 285 2007 7 ‘
4 ﬁate 4 Mary Dove

wl
{
Secreégiy of the Commission




7Y FOR: U.S. BANCORP POLITICAL PARTICIPATION PRO ’
F7C ID#: C00018036
\ h "._ : 'v
| . ATx: 840

r PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $650

- MGMCOMP 17:27 EST

To reply by Mailgram Message, see reverse side for Western Union's toli-free number. o

QUALITY IS OUR PRIORITY FOR LOCKBOX 2182
SEQ# 002 $ 0000065000 BA# 1 08-20-03 20 9

. SR POLITICAL PARTICIPATION PROG ' '
o @bancorp. e e O e - setg

72510 -

=] nmnmber.——-m

u A MULTI CANDIDATR COMMITIEE
FEC I.D. $C00016036
PRY
Six hundred Fifty dollars and 0D cents DAMNE AMOU
:g o™ fty 08/12/2003 w
;] GROER Faderat Elaction Commission $650.00
£ P.0C. Bux 952182

Saint Louis, MD 63195-2182

y Fesbyres \rrch

To replv hy Maiigram Messacs, e o - ""‘e,s;f‘i'o,‘ vf e s’ier? Ejrjiuri s tf)l!-frgg numbﬂwr';



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of
i

Final Determination AF #8465
Recommendation For The 2002
12-Day Pre-General Reports
Colonial Banagroup Inc.
Federal Political Action
Committee and Glenda Allred,

treasurer.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election

Commission, do hereby certify that on July 24, 2003, the

Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following

| actions in AF #849:

1. Make a final determination that Colonial Bancgroup
Inc. Federal Political Action Committee and Glenda
Bllred, treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty of $1000.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

|
|

|

} July 17, 2003.
{ Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
’ and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

j Attest:

(}za%t;? 5 Z0e3 @/m O// AL Qm

Mary W,
Secre Y of the Commission




FOR: COLONIAL BANCGROOINC FEDERAL POLITICAL 0
FEC ID: C00309526
AF#: 849

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: 51000

MGMCOMP 17:41 EST

To reply by Maiigram Message, see reverse side for Western Union’s toll-free number.

: ’ . . 7 S

QUALITY 1S OUR PRIORITY FOR LOCKBOX 2182
SEQ# 001 $ 0000100000 BA# 1 09-08-03 20 9
| T R S SRR — R I IR L T o A e A E T W)
R - ron, |

£ - T s nmﬁ;i

» S . 9z 2003
fﬁ"ggwfgdgan cHm [ommisslan ) 3 $:I,0(Dm:
: ] hb e A BY S a !
One ftrousand. andt . / 1 potrans BESD §

oo amx
Miviganary, Alabers, . )

n
[~
ACLAVE ArtcaM B

J ot




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination AT #858
Recommendation For The 2002
12-Day Pre-General Reports
Heartland PAC FKA: Youngstown
and David B. Orlean,

treasurer.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that on July 24, 2003, the
Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following
actions in AF #858:

1. Make a final determination that Heartland PAC FXA:
Youngstown and David B. Orlean, treasurer violated

2 U.S.C. 5434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
of $1000.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

July 17, 2003.

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,

and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
(;Lﬂaéiq 25 2003 6222552u%a €£2¢£ AA;Z¢¢A{
;T Dé%e ! Mary W?’Dcve

Secrq%bry of the Commission



mt..z:g:.n-, wx’ys&- e

e mtr oW r.;,‘-i"r e al

TR Lo P s B A S R DTSR K .

s RS :i‘-‘

it

QUALITY S OUR PRIORITY FOR LCCKBOX 2182
SEQ# 002 $ 0000100000 BA# 1 09-30-03 20 9

_,

DAYE hugust 8, 2003

- 1 $M,000.00 14




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination AF #860

Recommendation For The 2002
12-Day Pre-General Reports
International Federation/
Professional and Dolores A.
Gorczyca, treasurer.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
Commission, do hereby certify that om July 24, 2003, the

commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following

actiong in AF #860:

1. Make a final determination that Internatiomal Federation/
Professional and Dolores A. Gorczyca, treasurer viclated

2 U.S.C. §434{(a) and assess the civil money penalty
of $14000.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended in
the Reports Analysis Divisgion's Memorandum dated
July 17, 2003.

Conmissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,

and Weintraub veted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
/&Lo-t = L1 &‘Kl(-_{__
ate Mary Dove

Secre¥ary of the Commission



....__-__-.—---—-——_...-___.............-_-.-_..__._.-—-—.——-.—_.-.__—.-._.._.-........~_.__....._.__ _____

FOR: INTERNATIONAL FE&ATION/ PROFESSICNAL O
FEC ID: (00164509

AF#: 860
PAYMENT AMCUNT DUE: $1000

MGMCOMP 17:35 EST

To reply by Mailgram Message, see reverse side for Western Union’s toli-free number.

: : — — —_ ioniies S ity RS
" T e 52 2 R .4 L . P
. QUALITY IS OUR PRIORITY FOR LOCKBOX 2182
SEQ# 001 $ 0000100000 BA# 1 09-10-0320 9
o \ERLBAEARPAC ' WAHRGION, 0O ot C e 1669 ||
Io"@ Check Number: 1669 M::Ts,zoos i
g% Memo:  COD164509 $ 100000 §
g ﬁw_g One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars a8
- FEDERAL ELECTIONS COMMISSION ,
PO BOX 952182 i i
ST LOUIS, MO 63195




% BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
|
|
\

In the Matter of

Final Determination AF #863
Reconmendation Foxr The 2002
12-Day Pre-General Reportsa
KPMG Partnerg/Principals &
Employees Political Action
Committee and Stephen E Allis,

treasurer.

CERTIFICATICN

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election

Cormission, do hereby certify that on July 24, 2003, the

Commiesion decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following

actions in AF $#863:

1. Make a final determination that KPMG Partners/Principals
& Emplovees Political Action Committee and Stephen E Allis,
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. §434(a) and assess the civil
money penalty of $3000.00.

‘ 2. Send the appropriate letter, as reccmmended in
| the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

‘ July 17, 2003.
' Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas. Toner,
L
|
|
|
|
|
|
\
l
|
|

and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decisgion.

Attest:

I Mary W./ Dove
SecreL ry of the Commission

9@4#5.5@3 (/772’41,“ % /9 Seto
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QUALITY IS OUR PRIORITY FOR LOCKBOX 2182
SEQ# 002 $ 0000300000 BA#1 08-25.03 20 9
>F oes-03209

RIGGS BAN)
wwnmmrfi«%g 5149 |
153540

:g ““*Three Thousand & 00/106 Dallars

DATE
]

082112003 *$3,800,00
E PRY

Momo:
TOTHE Federal Elsction Commission
E SAbER PO Box 452182

&%, Louis, MD 631952182

2
:
B omany irckme Draty e pus,

t

l
|
L
{
1
i

i g

il

T



4§90, §49, 858 §co, §63

|
l THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE
|

DATE FILMED_0-3)-3  caMERANO._3

CAMERAMAN S €.6
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